FILED Sep 23, 2016 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

Supreme Court No. (COA No. 32956-9-III)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

Robert C.,

Juvenile Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TRAVIS STEARNS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Robert C., petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Robert seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated July 26, 2016, as amended on August 23, 2016. A copy of the original decision and the amendment are attached as appendixes.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the State overcame the presumption of incapacity by clear and convincing evidence Robert had sufficient understanding of his legal responsibility and knowledge his actions were wrong, when the State's evidence established only that Robert's maturity was "right on" for a ten-year-old child.
- 2. Whether defense counsel commits ineffective assistance when counsel does not recognize self-defense applies when the evidence established a child was acting as a reasonable abused child in defending himself from an assault.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Robert is the victim of serious child abuse.

Robert's father was "an extremely negative influence," who "engaged in physically inappropriate contact" with him. RP 29. Robert's mother Tina Collins, stated Robert's "dad beat him on a constant basis. He belittled him. He pretty much abused him in all ways that -- some things we don't even know went on with him and his father." RP 106. Robert's aunt Karissa Ratcliff described Robert's father as "an abusive jerk." RP 139. When the probation officer testified at the capacity hearing, he believed it was "spot on" Robert's anger was a result of the abuse Robert suffered from his family. RP 29.

2. Robert required counseling to help him recover from his abuse.

Robert suffers from post-traumatic stress. RP 33. He engaged in counseling in counseling in Montana and in Yakima. RP 114, 35. He was prescribed Prozac, an anti-depressant that is used to treat serious illnesses including depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and panic disorder. RP 114.

¹ Prozac is the common name for Fluoxetine. *See* U.S. National Library of Medicine, PubMed Health, Fluoxetine (2015), available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMHT0010346/.

The trauma Robert suffered as a result of being assaulted by family members makes him aggressive when physically abused or disciplined. RP 107. His mother told the court "using physical abuse against Robert makes him ... aggressive --- more aggressive because he's trying to protect himself." RP 107.

3. Post-traumatic stress caused Robert to have trouble in school.

Robert missed a lot of school and got into trouble when he did attend classes in third grade. RP 106. He was expelled from school in third grade "a month after he started school." RP 107. He had been held back in the third grade. RP 34. While his school work improved while he lived in Montana in the year prior to this incident, there is no record of whether he continued to engage in school upon his return to Washington. RP 108.

4. Robert's home life continued to be abusive when he acted to defend himself.

Robert's mother moved him back to Yakima after a family member died. Robert and his mother moved in with two of his aunts, into a house where did not have a bedroom. RP 143. His older aunt Irene Smith suffered from dementia and called Robert "my baby". RP 81-82.

On September 12, 2014, Robert was watching television with his sister. RP 83. When Aunt Smith tried to take the remote from him, she told the court "I think he thought I was going to hit him, but I wasn't

going to hit him." RP 83. Reacting to his fear of assault, Aunt Smith testified Robert hit and kicked her. RP 83.

Aunt Smith told Robert's mother he needed to respect his "elder." RP 98. Robert was told he was grounded. RP 98-99. Robert reacted by hitting his mother. RP 98-99. His mother then went outside to their smoking area, "not paying attention to what Robert did." RP 100.

Robert went outside to "cool off." RP 101. After a time, he was asked "if he was done." RP 102. He walked over to his family and apologized for being "mouthy." RP 121. He hugged his aunt and his mother. RP 122. His Aunt Smith then told him "he needed to go scrub the toilet with a toothbrush." RP 121. He got mad and told his family that was "child slave labor". RP 121. Aunt Ratcliff told him "you get off your ass." RP 123. She kicked the bucket he was sitting on "out from under him," causing him to fall to the ground. RP 123.

Robert went back into the house to escape from his relatives. RP 123. He did not see his mother again until after the police had arrived. RP 100. Rather than give him quiet time, as advised by Robert's counselors, his Aunt Ratcliff pursued him into the house. RP 124. When she told him his mother did not want him inside, he "sat there and said he wasn't moving. He wasn't doing anything. He was going to sit there." RP 124. He sat on the bed "normal." RP 125.

Robert's aunt's "level of angriness or anger or whatever you want to call it was getting up there." RP 125. She told him "you need to get your fucking ass outside. You are making me mad, and I don't want to get mad at you, so let's go." RP 125. She remembered "getting in his face, and I said, now I'm in your face." RP 126.

Robert told her "the next person that touches me or says anything to me is ... was either going to get their ass beat or get killed." *Id.* At trial, she testified "I honestly don't remember what he was saying." RP 142.

Ms. Ratcliff then screamed at him "this was fucking ridiculous and that he needed to get outside." RP 128. She reached out to grab him and he held up the "little paring knife" he had taken from the kitchen drawer. RP 128, RP 134. The police were called and Robert waited in the bedroom for them to arrive. RP 71. He was taken into custody without incident. *Id.*

Although originally released to live with his mother, Robert was eventually held in detention. His mother did not visit him while he was in custody, although she did speak to him twice a week by phone. RP 114.

5. The trial court found Robert had the maturity of an average ten year old, but still found clear and convincing evidence of capacity.

The only witness called at the capacity hearing was a Yakima

County probation officer, who had no prior relationship with Robert. He

interviewed Robert's mother and a probation officer in Montana. He testified "I don't know any ten year olds that are mature." RP 31.

The court found Robert's "maturity is right on for a ten year old of his age." RP 46. The court found Robert had capacity. RP 45.

6. Robert was convicted of all charges and sentenced to 15-36 weeks in state confinement.

Robert's trial took less than half a day. He was convicted of two counts of assault in the fourth degree and one count of assault in the second degree against his aunts and mother. RP 168. His lawyer did not ask the court to consider self-defense, despite abundant evidence Robert was defending himself, believing self-defense did not apply to these facts. RP 153. Robert was sentenced to 15-36 weeks, consecutive to 36 days in detention. RP 172.

7. The Court of Appeals initially upheld the trial court's finding of capacity by applying the wrong standard.

In its original opinion, the Court of Appeals misstated the law on capacity, finding the presumption against capacity did not apply to Robert. App. at 9. While the Court amended this incorrect statement of law, it did not explain how its analysis under the proper standard differed from its original analysis. App. at 23. Despite the Court's recognition the wrong standard had been applied to Robert, the Court continued to find the

wrongfulness of the acts to be "intuitively obvious," leading to a finding of capacity for Robert. App at 8.

E. ARGUMENT

1. RECENT DECISIONS OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT AND THIS COURT WARRANT REVIEW OF WHETHER ROBERT HAD CAPACITY TO COMMIT THE CHARGED ASSAULTS.

This Court last analyzed juvenile capacity in *State v. Ramer*, where it found insufficient evidence to support finding of capacity. 151 Wn.2d 106, 116, 86 P.3d 132 (2004). Since *Ramer*, the United States Supreme Court has issued a series of decisions on what special protections must be provided to juveniles. These decisions incorporate both common sense – what "any parent knows" – and recent developments in brain science supporting the lesser culpability of youth. *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. _____, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2464, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). This Court has also analyzed what special protections must be provided to youthful offenders who are adults, recognizing youth diminishes culpability. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 695, 358 P.3d 359 (2015).

While these standards have not yet been examined in regard to capacity, the United State Supreme Court has extended this analysis beyond issues of punishment. The Supreme Court has also recognized juveniles are entitled to special protections when questioned by the police

and that structures put into place for adults should not always be considered constitutional. *J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 281, 131 S. Ct. 2394, 180 L. Ed. 2d 310 (2011). While the Court of Appeals recognized the sea change which has occurred since capacity was last examined, it declined to apply this analysis to whether the State proved Robert had the capacity to commit the crimes charged. App. at 14-15.

- 2. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH OTHER DECISIONS ISSUED BY THIS COURT AND THE COURTS OF APPEAL.
 - a. The State failed to overcome the presumption Robert is not capable of committing the crimes charged.

Children under twelve years of age are presumed incapable of committing crimes. RCW 9A.04.050. To overcome the presumption of incapacity, the State must provide clear and convincing evidence the child had sufficient capacity to understand the act and to know that it was wrong. *Ramer*, 151 Wn.2d at 114 (citing *State v. J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d 34, 38, 954 P.2d 894 (1998); *State v. Q.D.*, 102 Wn.2d 19, 26, 685 P.2d 557 (1984). Substantial evidence of capacity is required for the State to sustain its burden on appeal. *State v. Q.D.*, 102 at 21, 25–26.

This Court has identified seven factors to consider in determining capacity: (1) the nature of the crime, (2) the child's age and maturity, (3) whether the child evidenced a desire for secrecy, (4) whether the child told

the victim (if any) not to tell, (5) prior conduct similar to that charged, (6) any consequences that attached to that prior conduct, and (7) whether the child had made an acknowledgment that the behavior is wrong and could lead to detention. *Ramer*, 151 Wn.2d at 114-15 (citing *J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d at 38–39).

Robert is a ten year old child whose maturity was "right on for a ten year old." RP 46. Robert did not display any desire for secrecy for the acts he committed. RP 46. He did not tell anyone not to tell and did not acknowledge he knew his behavior was wrong. RP 47. All of these factors support the presumption against capacity.

- b. Factors the Court of Appeals did not weigh or weighed improperly which favor a finding of incapacity.
 - i. Factor Two: The presumption against finding capacity is not overcome by the presentation of evidence Robert had the maturity of an average ten year old who has a history of trauma and abuse.

The Court of Appeals found Robert's age and maturity weighed in favor of capacity. App. at 10. This factor was not weighed in favor of the State in the trial court. RP 46. Instead, the trial court found Robert had the maturity of a ten year old. RP 46. This factor should not be considered in favor of capacity. The Court of Appeals analysis is in conflict with RCW 9A.04.050 and precedence from this court. *See, e.g., State v. Erika D.W.*, 85 Wn. App. 601, 605, 934 P.2d 704 (1997). RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2).

Evidence of Robert's past trauma also demonstrates why the State failed to overcome its burden. While the Court determined there was no evidence of Robert's history of abuse, this is contrary to the evidence heard at the capacity hearing. App. at 8-9. At the hearing, the probation officer testified Robert's father was "an extremely negative influence," who "engaged in physically inappropriate contact" with him. RP 29. The officer also stated Robert's anger was the result of the abuse he suffered. RP 29. The trial court heard Robert was treated for his post-traumatic stress at Behavioral Health Services and was given with anti-depressant medication. RP 33, 35.

ii. <u>Factor Three: Evidence Robert did not demonstrate a</u> desire for secrecy supports a finding of incapacity.

Robert did not show a desire for secrecy. This factor weighs in favor of incapacity. *J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d at 44.

The Court of Appeals erred in focusing upon statements made to police after his arrest. App. 10-11. This Court has recognized statements made after a child has been told their behavior is wrong are insufficient, standing alone, to overcome the presumption of incapacity. *J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d at 44 (citations omitted).

This Court's caution in using post-arrest statements is consistent with the profound changes in how courts consider statement made by

youth. *J.D.B.*, 564 U.S. at 264. The Court of Appeals decision to upon Robert's inconsistent statements to find Robert demonstrated a desire for secrecy is inconsistent with judicial precedent and justifies review. RAP 13.4(1),(2).

iii. Factor Four: Robert did not to tell others to remain silent about his acts.

Robert did not tell his family members not tell anyone about what had happened and continued to sit in his mother's room. Although the Court of Appeals addressed this factor, seemingly in Robert's favor, it specifically declined to weigh it. App. at 11. The decision not to weigh this factor is inconsistent with prior decisions of this Court and warrants review. RAP 13.4(1),(2).

iv. Factor Seven: Robert did not acknowledge he understood he committed a crime.

Robert did not acknowledge his conduct was wrong. An acknowledgement of wrongfulness supports a finding of capacity, but one made after a child has been taught his conduct is wrong is "not particularly probative." *J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d at 44. To the contrary, Robert remained sitting on his mother's bed the entire time the police were called to arrest him. RP 71. The trial court addressed this factor finding no evidence to support it. App. at 14. But instead of weighing this factor in Robert's

favor, the Court of Appeals again specifically declined to weight one of the mandated factors. App. at 14.

- c. Factors the Court of Appeals found supported a finding of capacity which were not proven by clear and convincing evidence or should have been decided in Robert's favor.
 - i. Factor One: Robert's experience as a victim of domestic abuse and his reaction to violence perpetrated against him supports the presumption Robert lacks capacity.

Physically abused children who have only seen violence used to solve problems in the home are unaware of other problem-solving methods. See, e.g., Brandt Steele, Notes on the Lasting Effects of Early Child Abuse, 10 Child Abuse and Neglect: Int'l J. 283, 285 (1986). Robert lived in a chaotic environment where all of his adult role models appear to have consistently committed assaults against him. The trial court recognized this trauma and its "societal blight." RP 48-49.

Robert, who has suffered a lifetime of physical abuse, retreated into his mother's room to avoid being assaulted again by his family. His aunt had just physically assaulted him by kicking the bucket Robert was sitting on out from under him, knocking him to the ground. RP 123. She assaulted him again after he retreated telling him, "you need to get your fucking ass outside" and "getting in his face." RP 126, RP 128. Robert's reaction to this assault by protecting himself is consistent with science and how people in troubled families act when resolving conflict. RP 107.

Robert does not know or understand any other type of conflict resolution, nor should he be expected to, given the way he has been raised. RP 49.

Abuse and violence is all Robert has ever known. The trial court had substantial evidence at the capacity hearing Robert had been abused throughout his young life. While the Court of Appeals found that children from a young age know it is wrong to hit other people, the court did not address whether this knowledge creates the legal responsibility this court has required for capacity. More importantly, the court failed to specifically determine that Robert had capacity to commit this offense, notwithstanding his traumatic upbringing and constant exposure to violent acts. *Ramer*, 151 Wn.2d at 115.

ii. Factor Five: Children who suffer from domestic abuse have a diminished capacity.

The Court of Appeals found Robert had engaged in prior similar conduct to the conduct the State charged against him in this case. App. at 11. While the opinion correctly found evidence of his self-protection was only presented at trial, ample evidence was presented at the capacity hearing to understand Robert was the victim of domestic abuse, which the trial court specifically recognized. RP 28-29, 48-49. Social science is consistent in finding many children who have been abused protect themselves from perceived abuse with force. H. Lien Bragg, *Child*

Protection in Families Experiencing Domestic Violence, U.S. Dep't of Health and Human Servs. 10 (2003). The science has shown that children are unable to differentiate between abuse and discipline. *Id.* Robert behaved like a reasonable abused child who has an incomplete ability to understand the world around him. *See, J.D.B.*, 564 U.S. at 273. The record clearly establishes Robert was a victim of domestic abuse, not only historically, but on the day of he was arrested.

iii. Factor Six: The evidence did not establish Robert understood the legal consequences of his actions.

The Court of Appeals found consequences Robert had previously served supported a finding of capacity. App. at 11. While Robert appears to have been involved in some sort of diversion hearing in Montana, the only explanation of the process he was subjected to was that it was some sort of meeting with a probation officer. RP 24. No court hearing appears to have ever occurred. RP 24.

There was no evidence presented that Robert had ever been involved in proceedings in Washington or that he had ever even been to court. Further, the record did not establish Robert was provided with any sort of process which would have helped him understand the legal consequences attached to the assault. *Ramer*, 151 Wn.2d at 115.

d. The presumption against capacity was not overcome and the Court of Appeals decision finding otherwise merits review.

Robert is a victim of domestic violence who acted to protect himself when he was assaulted by family members. Like many other children his age, his escape from abuse was nearly impossible. RP 48-49. When he attempted to disengage, his family continued to goad him, until he finally sought refuge in his mother's room, having no room of his own. When he warned his aunt he would not be assaulted again and brandished a small paring knife, he was arrested and charged with assault.

The capacity hearing conducted by the court did not establish Robert had capacity beyond that of an average ten year old. Review is warranted because this decision is in conflict with other Washington court opinions to address the important question of whether the sea change in how juveniles are viewed by the courts now informs the way very young abused children should be treated. Because the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) are all met, this Court should accept review.

3. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS WHETHER IT IS INEFFECTIVE TO FAIL TO RAISE SELF-DEFENSE WHERE THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED ROBERT WAS ACTING AS A REASONABLE ABUSED CHILD IN PROTECTING HIMSELF.

The right of effective counsel and the right of review are fundamental to, and implicit in, any meaningful modern concept of

ordered liberty. *State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 96, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). The Court of Appeals recognized defense counsel did not think Robert's actions "really properly fit into a self-defense mode." App. at 16. The record establishes defense counsel did not understand the right to self-defense or how to apply it to an abused child who is attempting to defend himself. The failure to raise this defense constitutes ineffective assistance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 205, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

a. A child acts in self-defense when the child has a reasonable belief force is justified.

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