RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 06, 2016, 8:26 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93692-7

THE SUPREME COURT OF OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

V.

R. C. Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

C. ARGUMENT

As with a direct appeal, acceptance of review of the Court of Appeals opinion is governed by RAP 13.4(b). This rule sets forth the manner and mechanism for review of a decision by the Court of Appeals terminating review.

This case does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b) RAP 13.4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review; This case does not 1) Conflict with any decision by this court; 2) This ruling does not conflict with any ruling by any other division of the Court of Appeals or for that matter any court; 3) The ruling does not raise a significant question under either the State or Federal Constitution; the ruling merely reiterates the standard that has been applied for years 4) The issues raise in this petition for review do not involve an issue of substantial public interest that this court should determine.

The State would note that pursuant to GR 14.1 an unpublished opinion "may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate." The State would note that the exact same panel of jurists from Division III of the Court of Appeals contemporaneously with the decision in this case rendered an opinion in State v. Ellison, 33215-2-III (WACA) unpublished slip opinion addressed implications of Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005) in a matter where "the infancy defense" set forth in RCW 9A.04.050.

RC askes this court to void decades of controlling law, law that the court in Ellison cited to and used; State v. J.P.S., 135 Wn.2d 34, 37, 954 P.2d 894 (1998) and more recently State v. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d 106, 115, 86 P.3d 132 (2004) (quoting 43 C.J.S. Infants§ 197 (1978)). Division II recently cited as J.P.S in its opinion in State v. Plueard, 42167-4-II (WACA)(2013) unpublished slip opinion.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the juvenile court's determination that RC had capacity to commit the crime here by examining the record to determine whether the State produced substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of incapacity. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d at 112-13. Significantly, the inquiry is whether the State *produced* sufficient evidence to meet its burden of proof and, necessarily then, a court of review does not pass on whether the State's showing was *persuasive*. State v. Huff, 64 Wn.App. 641, 655, 826 P.2d 698 (1992). The burden of persuasion is a matter for the trier of fact (here the juvenile court judge) to resolve. *Id*.

The State will not regurgitate the lengthy opinion of the court of appeals in this answer to do so would be redundant and unneeded. The ruling was well reasoned and took point by point the existing and valid law set forth in the case law pertinent to this issue which addressed a statute that is valid and is a statement of the intent of the legislature.

The Court ruled:

- 1) Nature of the crime. ... The crimes charged in this case are assaults, the wrongfulness of which is intuitively obvious. Children are almost always taught from a very young age that hitting someone is wrong. The same is true of threatening to injure someone with a weapon. This factor weighs in favor of finding capacity.
- 2) Age and maturity.... The fact that R.C. was in the upper end of the 8 to 12 age range, had good grades, the fact that he was self-aware enough to attempt to calm himself down, and the absence of any evidence that he lacked the cognitive ability to understand what an average 10-year-and-7-month-old child understands, all bear on this factor. While not strong support for a finding of capacity, this factor weighs in favor of finding capacity.
- 3) Desire for secrecy.... R.C. 's history of asking his mother not to call police, together with evidence that when police were called in September 2014, he lied, demonstrate a desire for secrecy and a corresponding knowledge that his acts were wrong. The factor weighs in favor of finding capacity.
- 4) Asking the victim not to tell.... We find no evidence that R.C. asked family members not to call police on that occasion, but given the precipitous events, he might not have had the opportunity. We have already mentioned prior occasions on which R.C. asked his mother not to call police and will not double count that evidence under this factor. This factor does not weigh in favor, or against, finding capacity.
- 5) Prior conduct & consequences (factors 5 and 6 combined)....In addressing these factors, R.C. cites his mother's opinion that when he hits family members, it is self-protective because he cannot distinguish between abuse and discipline. Br. of Appellant at 20-21. But this evidence (which was in the context of hitting in response to physical

punishment) was only presented at the trial, not at the capacity hearing.

He and amici also contend the evidence of his prior similar conduct and consequences was not specific enough to be clear and convincing evidence. We disagree. The court was presented with evidence that by the time of the capacity hearing, R.C. had dealt with law enforcement for assaulting his mother on at least five occasions; that while living in Montana, he suffered the consequence of diversion with county probation services; and that multiple police officers had told him his behavior was wrong and could lead to legal issues or jail. The court was presented with evidence that R.C. was receiving regular counseling for oppositional defiant disorder at Behavioral Health Services of Yakima. This is an extraordinary history of opportunities from which a 10-year-old child with average or better than average cognitive ability could learn what constitutes assault and that it is wrong. This factor weighs strongly in favor of finding capacity. 7) Acknowledgment that behavior is wrong.... In announcing its finding of capacity, the trial court identified as relevant to this factor only actions and statements from which one might infer that R.C. knew his assaults were wrong: his being "scared shitless" of going to jail, his trying to calm himself down after the first two assaults, and his lying to police officers about what had happened. RP at 47.

Having considered that evidence in connection with other factors, we do not count it again here. This factor does not weigh for or against a finding of capacity.

Slip 8-14

Having completed the above analysis, the court then ruled, using

the proper legal standard; "Considering all seven factors, the State presented substantial clear and convincing evidence from which the trial court could reasonably find that it overcame the presumption that R.C. lacked the capacity to commit assault." Slip at 14

The Court's decision is well reasoned and the edicts of RAP 13.4(b) have not been met. The acceptance of review by this court is and should be limited. The opinion rendered below need not be reviewed.

The Court of Appeals then addressed the series of federal and out of state cases that RC argues should be the standard in this State.

This court need only look at the Court of Appeals analysis it correctly sums up that reason that the cases cited by RC are not applicable and why that court and this court need not and should not change the well-reasoned standard that is presently in place. As the court ruled:

R.C. and amici nonetheless argue that a child's impulsivity, susceptibility to outside pressures, and capacity for growth and change-qualities that distinguish children from adults-should cause us to modify the seven-factor inquiry or should inform the inquiry in a way they contend it did not in R.C.'s case.

. .

None of the cases cited has any direct application to the issue of capacity to commit a crime.

. . .

All discuss current or then-current knowledge about the juvenile brain. We see no reason why the science they discuss could not have been presented in R.C.'s capacity hearing to the extent it was relevant. We have no reason to believe that a superior court judge assigned to juvenile court would not have some knowledge of the science. But its relevance would have been limited to the issue in the capacity hearing: whether R.C. had the capacity to understand the acts charged and know that they were wrong. Where a juvenile has that capacity, our legislature intends that the crimes charged be adjudicated in the juvenile justice system.

And the juvenile justice system itself reflects the legislature's recognition that a child's criminal act must be addressed differently than the criminal act of an adult. "[T]he fundamental difference between juvenile courts and adult courts" is that, "unlike wholly punitive adult courts, juvenile courts remain[] rehabilitative." *State v. Saenz*, 175 Wn.2d 167, 172-73, 283 P.3d 1094, aff'd, 175 Wn.2d 167,283 P.3d 1094 (2012). *Saenz* summarizes a number of respects in which Washington law responds to the fact that juvenile brains, and therefore the juvenile justice response, must be different.

The longstanding seven-factor analysis of capacity remains viable and supports R.C.'s capacity. (Slip at 15-16)

It is the State's position that the present methodology does in fact already incorporate standards that take into account many, if not most, of the factors that are addressed in the recent cases addressing the qualities that distinguish a child's brain from that of an adult. The seven separate factors that are addressed in a capacity hearing are set out so that there is a very specific, person by person, analysis of the alleged offender to determine if that person will be deemed by this state to have the capacity to commit a criminal act. A process that by its very process looks to the qualities of the juvenile offender and determines if that juveniles, that

child's, brain had the capacity to act in a manner that this society has labeled as criminal.

If the court after its analysis, the capacity hearing, determines that the youth did not meet the criterion then the court in effect has stated, has ruled, that this youthful brain should be distinguished from that of an adult and therefore not be held to have the capacity to "commit a crime." This is so even if the person did in fact act, do something, that if the offender was not of a tender age would in fact be a criminal act.

2) Alleged ineffective assistance by trial counsel for not alleging these assaults were done in self-defense.

The actions of trial counsel here were not ineffective. The record is clear that his considered self-defense and found that the facts did not fit the law. Furthermore, if trial counsel's conduct "can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as the basis for a claim that a defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel." State v.
Adams, 91 Wn.2d 86, 90, 586 P.2d 1168 (1978). "[T]he court must make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and must strongly presume that counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy." In re Pers. Restraint of Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992). Personal Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 734-5, 16 P.3d 1 (2001).

For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every "colorable" claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy that underlies Anders. Nothing in the Constitution or our interpretation of that document requires such a standard. <u>Jones v. Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 754, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 77 L. Ed. 2d 987 (1983).

The Court later expressed similar views about representation at the trial court level:

Although there are basic rights that the attorney cannot waive without the fully informed and publicly acknowledged consent of the client, the lawyer hasand must have-full authority to manage the conduct of the trial. . . . Putting to one side the exceptional cases in which counsel is ineffective, the client must accept the consequences of the lawyer's decision to forgo cross-examination, to decide not to put certain witnesses on the stand, or to decide not to disclose the identity of certain witnesses in advance of trial.

... For many reasons, therefore, the choice of trial tactics, the action to be taken or avoided, and the methodology to be employed must rest in the attorney's judgment. <u>State v. Piche</u>, 71 Wn.2d at 590.

This is a classic case of hind sight on appeal, where RC would have the Court of Appeals and now this court, second guess the actions of trial counsel where clearly that counsels trial tactic did not included alleging the three assaults committed by RC were done so out of self-defense. "When R.C.'s trial lawyer told the court, "I'm not trying to justify his actions[,] because he was out of control that day. I don't think his actions really properly fit into a self-defense mode," we can see from the record that he was reasonably anticipating how the trial court was

likely to view the evidence. RP at 174. So he relied instead on an argument that merely raising a knife, without making a forward thrust, does not amount to assault." Slip at 20

<u>Harrington v. Richter</u>, 562 U.S. 86, 109-110, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178 L.Ed.2d 624, 79 U.S.L.W. 4030 (2011)

Although courts may not indulge "post hoc rationalization" for counsel's decision-making that contradicts the available evidence of counsel's actions, Wiggins, 539 U.S., at 526-527, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471, neither may they insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis for his or her actions. There is a "strong presumption" that counsel's attention to certain issues to the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than "sheer neglect." Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8, 124 S.Ct. 1, 157 L.Ed.2d 1 (2003) (per curiam). After an adverse verdict at trial even the most experienced counsel may find it difficult to resist asking whether a different strategy might have been better, and, in the course of that reflection, to magnify their own responsibility for an unfavorable outcome Strickland, however, calls for an inquiry into the objective reasonableness of counsel's performance, not counsel's subjective state of mind. 466 U.S., at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674.

There was no claim of self-defense attempted because trial counsel knew and acknowledged that the facts did not support this defense. No attorney is mandated to argue something that is not supported by the facts and to not argue something which was not supported by the facts is the ethical duty of any and all attorney. RPC 3.3

There were three assaults in this case. An examination of the the first two, on RC's mother and his great aunt, demonstrate that the record is devoid of any facts that would allow such a defense to be presented even given RC's past and perhaps because of his past. His history must and did factor into the method this case was presented. These assaults are not the first, therefore RC already had knowledge of the consequence of his actions and had, according to the record, assaulted his mother on a weekly and sometimes daily basis. The acts by these two victims could never be presented in any manner to a finder of fact which would justify or allow the use of the defense of self-defense. The third assault against his aunt was the only confrontation that there was a possibility of the use of this defense based on the hostile interaction. However, the fact that the initial act by the Aunt, when she knocked RC off of his seat in the yard was separated by time and space and the premediated act of RC to find a knife, conceal the knife and only attempt to stab his aunt after she came into the room also does not meet the legal standard. State v. McCullum. 98 Wn.2d 484, 494, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983) (self-defense negates the intent element of a crime). Proof of self-defense requires evidence (1) that the defendant had a subjective fear of imminent danger of bodily harm, (2) that this belief was objectively reasonable, and (3) that the defendant exercised no more force than was reasonably necessary. State v. Werner, 170 Wn.2d 333,

337, 241 P.3d 410 (2010); see RCW 9A. 16.020(3).

The standard for self-defense incorporates both subjective and objective elements. State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 474, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). The trier of fact considers all the facts and circumstances subjectively known to the actor and then determines what a similarly situated reasonably prudent person would have done. Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 474.

It was for RC to provide some evidence of this defense. That evidence need not come from the defendant himself however there must be some evidence presented. Once that evidence is presented by the defendant, the burden shifts to the State to prove the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Acosta</u>. 101 Wn.2d 612, 615-16, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984); Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 473.

Here there is nothing which could have been presented from the State's witnesses or from RC himself which would satisfy this requirement.

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